IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 77,134

DEC 31 1990 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By Deputy Clark

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

RAFAEL FONSECA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CHARLES M. FAHLBUSCH
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0191948
Department of Legal Affairs
401 N.W. 2nd Avenue N-921
Miami, Florida 33128
305-377-5441

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, THE STATE OF FLORIDA, was the prosecution in the trial court and the Appellee before the Third District Court of Appeal. The Respondent, RAFAEL FONSECA, was the defendant before the trial court and the Appellant before the District Court. The parties will be referred to, in this brief, as they stand before this court. The symbol "R" will be used, in this brief, to refer to the Record on Appeal which was before the District Court, the symbol "SR" will identify the Supplemental Record on Appeal and the symbol "T" will designate the transcript of lower court proceedings. The symbol "App." will refer to the appendix to this brief. All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The respondent was charged by Information with Second Degree Murder and unlawful Possession of a Firearm while engaged in a Criminal offense. (R. 3-4A).

The evidence at trial revealed that victim and the respondent were divorced, but were living together at the time of the crime. (R. 136, 143, T. 181, 410). On June 29, 1988, in the early morning hours, Mr. Fonseca ran to his neighbors, setting off the burglar alarm, and told them that somebody had shot through the window and hit Alicia, the victim (T. 172-175, 273-274, 297). One of the neighbors called the police and uniformed officers in marked police cars arrived within five (5) minutes. (T. 177).

The defendant told the police that somebody had shot through the window and hit his wife, but then said that somebody had broken in and shot her and they might still be inside (T. 187-192, 231). A search revealed no intruders and no sign of forced entry (T. 192-193, 232-233). The search did reveal the victim, who was pale, white, still and ice cold (T. 232-233). The lower part of her body had begun to turn darker, indicating that she had been there quite awhile and there were apparently dry bloodstains on the bedspread (T. 233-234). A subsequent check of the house revealed no bullet hole (T. 335-336).

When one of the officers started asking the defendant about the victim, he backed away, said that they weren't the real police, and fled (T. 194-198). An officer caught him two (2) blocks away and had to subdue him (T. 202-204). He was placed in the back of a police car and, although he was not asked questions, he first said that his wife was okay and didn't have anything wrong with her (T. 440) and then said that he and his wife had been arguing when he heard a loud noise and she collapsed. (T. 441-442).

After being read his rights, the defendant told one of the detectives that he had been asleep when he heard a "poof" sound and his wife tapped him and said, "Papito, you hit me." (T. 333). He went back to sleep (T. 333). He subsequently woke up and discovered that his wife was bleeding from a gunshot wound (T. 333). He repeated this version to another detective the following day (T. 298-302).

The detective told him that there was no evidence of intruders and that no one had entered the house, suggesting that the defendant's wife committed suicide. (T. 305). The defendant then said that his wife was a cocaine user, they were in a financial bind and his wife had been threating suicide (T. 307). He, then, gave a scenario consistant with a suicide (T. 307-308), although, during that statement, he said, "This is the worst thing I've ever done." (T. 309). When asked what he meant, he

changed it to this is the worst thing that ever happened to him (T. 309). He had said that he and his wife had made love (T. 302) but, when told that the police would check for the presence of semen, he changed and said that they didn't (T. 314).

The murder weapon turned out to be a Cobra, 9 millimeter semi-automatic machine pistol which was found beneath the defendant's bed (T. 272-273, 336-337). It was fired once at the victim from a distance of at least nineteen (19) inches, but no more than five (5) feet. (T. 272-273, 486-487). The bullet entered the left side of the victim's abdomen, slightly below the navel (T. 488-489). The medical examiner testified that it was possible for the wound to have been self-inflicted although, given the distance the gun would have to be held from the body, the angle it would have to held at and the location of the wound, it was unlikely to be suicide (T. 496, 531-533, 541-545).

The defendant had previously beaten the victim and had threatened to kill her with a machine gum. (T. 394-396, 431, 478-479).

The respondent was convicted of both counts (R. 153-154, T. 690-692).

The court, upon the State's motion, found that the defendant was an habitual offender under the applicable statutes

(R. 157, T. 699, 702-703). Certified copies of the defendant's prior convictions were provided (T. 701) and the Judge went over the defendant's record prior to sentencing. (T. 712).

The trial Judge was informed by the prosecutor, without objection, that the habitual offender statute took the sentence out of the sentencing guidelines and the Judge sentenced the respondent to life imprisonment for the murder and to a fifteen (15) year consecutive sentence on the possession charge without stating reasons for a guidelines departure. (R. 158-160, T. 714-715).

The Third District reversed the unlawful possession of a firearm charge and remanded the case for resentencing within the quidelines, certifying the following question to this court:

SHOULD POPE v. STATE BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY TO SENTENCES IMPOSED PRIOR TO APRIL 26, 1990? (App.).

The State reserves the right to set forth additional facts in the argument portion of this brief, as appropriate.

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN WITHIN REQUIRING RESENTENCING THE GUIDELINES WHERE RESPONDENT WAS SENTENCED PRIOR TO POPE v. STATE, 561 So.2d 554 (FLA. 1990) AND REE v. STATE, 565 So.2d 1329 (FLA. 1990) AND WHERE THE TRIAL COURT WAS INFORMED THAT AN HABITUAL OFFENDER FINDING REMOVED THE SENTENCE FROM THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

First, the district court erred in remanding for resentencing within the sentencing guidelines because the sentences in this case were rendered prior to this court's decisions in Pope v. State, 561 So.2d 554 (Fla. 1990) and Ree v. State, 565 So.2d 1329 (Fla. 1990). If this court's language, in Ree, that its holding is to be applied only prospectively is to have any effect, at all, then that effect should preclude this case from being remanded for resentencing within the guidelines.

However, even if that were not the case, the trial court, in this case, was under the misimpresion that finding the respondent to be an habitual offender removed the sentence from the guidelines. Although that was true of the habitual offender statute which existed at the time of the sentence, it was not true of the statute which existed at the time of the offense. However, where the court was under the mistaken impression that the sentencing guidelines did not apply, the court should be permitted to depart from the permitted guidelines range at resentencing based on rationale of Roberts v. State, 547 So.2d 129 (Fla. 1989) and Jones v. State, 559 So.2d 204 (Fla. 1990).

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN REQUIRING RESENTENCING WITHIN THE GUIDELINES WHERE RESPONDENT WAS SENTENCED PRIOR TO POPE v. STATE, 561 So.2d 554 (FLA. 1990) AND REE v. STATE, 565 So.2d 1329 (FLA. 1990) AND WHERE THE TRIAL COURT WAS INFORMED THAT AN HABITUAL OFFENDER FINDING REMOVED THE SENTENCE FROM THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES.

A. Resentencing Within the Guidelines Should Not be Required Where the Respondent was Sentenced Prior to this Court's Decisions in Pope v. State, and Ree v. State:

The first fallacy which is inherent in the opinion of the Third district is the assumption that, when this court stated in Ree v. State, 565 So.2d 1329, 1331 (Fla. 1990) that, "This shall be applied only prospectively." however, it meant for that language to have no (emphasis added), It is respectfully submitted that, had this practical effect. court simply intended the usual "pipeline" rule to apply, it would not have addressed the issue at all. Where the sentencing, in this case, was completed prior to either the Pope or Ree opinions, they should not be applied to this case.

Further, there is no reason for applying Ree prospectively only and not doing the same with Pope v. State,

561 So.2d 554, (Fla. 1990). Indeed, the reasons for applying Pope only on a prospective basis are even stronger than those in Ree where, prior to Pope, this court's opinions had created significant confusion on the resentencing issue. Barbara v. 505 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1987) specifically remanded for resentencing to permit the trial court to specify written reasons given. Similarly, in Jackson v. State, 478 So.2d 1054, 1055 (Fla. 1985), receded from on other grounds, Wilkerson v. State, 513 So.2d 664 (Fla. 1987), this Court approved "that part of the district court's decision directing a written order expressing reasons for departure" on remand to the trial court. This Court's explicit history of prior cases approving of remands to the trial court to enable the trial court to reduce the reasons for departure to writing certainly suggests that the reasons for applying Pope prospectively only are the only reasonable remedy for having implicity misled lower courts as to the proper actions to be taken in resentencing.

The defendant, in cases such as this, is certainly not being exposed to a harsher penalty than he faced at his original sentencing and, if <u>Pope</u> and <u>Ree</u> are applied to cases such as this, the citizens of Florida are being denied the level of incarceration which should rightfully be imposed.

That is especially true in this case, where the habitual offender statute which was in effect at the time of the

sentencing would have removed the case from the sentencing guidelines (although that which was in effect at the time of the offense would not). F.S. §775.084 (4)(e)(1988 Supplement).

B. Resentencing Within the Guidelines Should Not be Required Where the Trial Court Was Informed Than An Habitual Offender Finding Removed the Sentence From the Sentencing Guidelines:

The defendant committed the murder concerned in this case on June 28th or June 29th 1988 (R. 3-4A). The habitual offender statute which was in effect at that time did not provide for excluding habitual offender sentences from the sentencing quidelines. F.S. §775.084 (1987).

Subsequently, effective October 1, 1988, the legislature amended the habitual offender statute so that sentences rendered under that statute were not subject to the sentencing quidelines. F.S. §775.084 (4)(e)(1988 Supplement).

Then, on September 20, 1989, almost a year after the amendment removing habitual offender sentences from the guidelines, the respondent was sentenced in this case (R. 158-160), after having been properly found to be an habitual offender (T. 699, 702-703). The trial Judge was misinformed by the prosecutor, at that time, that the habitual offender statute took the sentences our of the sentencing guidelines, without

objection (T. 714-715). No sentencing departure reasons, either written or oral, were given. (T. 712-715).

This Court dealt with a similar issue in Roberts v. State, 547 So.2d 129 (Fla. 1989), in which it held that the trial court could impose a sentence in excess of the new guidelines range, on remand for resentencing, where the original sentence was within the range of sentences reflected by the original score sheet, but that score sheet was found to be in error. See also, State v. Vanhorn, 561 So.2d 584 (Fla. 1990); Calleja v. State, 562 So.2d 395 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). Similarly, the Third District permitted a trial court, upon remand, to supply reasons for departing below the permitted guidelines range in a youthful offender sentence where, at the time of sentencing, it believed that no such reasons were necessary. State v. Kepner, 560 So.2d 251 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990).

Indeed, in a case extremely similar to this one, this court held that the initial sentencing of the defendant as an habitual offender, without reference to the sentencing quidelines, did not constitute a bar to the subsequent enhancement of the sentence, upon remand, based on proper written reasons supporting an upward departure. Jones v. State, 559 So.2d 204 (Fla. 1990). Further, the opinion in this case directly conflicts with Whitfield v. State, 561 So.2d 22 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), decided subsequent to Pope which held:

We find no merit appellant's challenges to his conviction for possession of cocaine. However, the State concedes that the trial court erroneously applied the habitual offender amended statute, chapter 88-131, Laws Florida, to an offense committed before its effective date.

The State points out that this error was not brought to of the attention the sentencing judge, who apparently considered this to a case in which sentencing guidelines did not apply because of the amended statute, and requests that the case be remanded to the trial court for resentencing citing Roberts v. State, 547 So.2d 129 (Fla. 1989).

Appellant's conviction is AFFIRMED, but his sentence is REVERSED and the case REMANDED to the trial court for resentencing. If the court find it appropriate, it may sentence appellant as an offender habitual under 775.084, Florida section Statutes (1987), and may impose a sentence beyond the guidelines sentencing recommended range if valid written contemporaneous reasons for departure (emphasis added). given.

It is respectfully submitted that <u>Whitfield</u> provides the proper remedy for cases such as this and that it is error to require resentencing within the guidelines, as the Third District did in this case.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing reasons and authorities, the opinion of the district court, insofar as it requires resentencing within the sentencing guidelines, should be reversed and this cause remanded with directions permitting proper an contemporaneous written reasons.