PILED SID J. WHITE

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 77,134

CLERK, SUPREME GOURT.

By Deputy Clerk

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

-vs-

RAFAEL FONSECA,

Respondent.

ON APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BENNETT H. BRUMMER
Public Defender
Eleventh Judicial Circuit
of Florida
1351 N.W. 12th Street
Miami, Florida 33125
(305) 545-3078

ROBERT BURKE Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 434493

Counsel for Appellant

#

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third District Court of Appeal was correct in reversing and remanding for resentencing within the guidelines because its application of <a href="Pope v. State">Pope v. State</a>, 561 So.2d 554 (Fla. 1990), was either (a) not retroactive, or (b) a retroactive application required by principles of fairness and the constitutional guarantee of equal protection, and (c) the sentence was a knowing departure from the guidelines without written reasons.

The trial court erred in allowing a police officer to express his opinion on the credibility of the defendant's statements because the opinion invaded the jury's province to judge the credibility of the statements and denied Fonseca a fair trial.

The trial court erred in denying Fonseca's motion for mistrial where cumulative evidence of, and arguments on, collateral crimes became the primary feature of the trial so that the prejudicial impact of the evidence outweighed its probative value, denying Fonseca a fair trial.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Ι

THE THIRD DISTRICT WAS CORRECT IN REVERSING AND REMANDING FOR RESENTENCING WITHIN THE GUIDELINES WHERE THE TRIAL COURT DEPARTED FROM THE GUIDELINES WITHOUT PROVIDING WRITTEN REASONS.

The State concedes that the sentence is a departure sentence without written reasons, but contends that the trial judge should be allowed a second chance to impose a departure sentence. The State is wrong.

(A)

This case is a "pipeline" case; that is, one which was not final by trial or appeal when a controlling decision, Pope v. State, 561 So.2d 554 (Fla. 1990) (Pope II) was issued. Reed v. State, 565 So.2d 708 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990); Smith v. State, 496 So.2d 983 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986). See also, State v. Safford, 484 So.2d 1244 (Fla. 1986). Because pipeline cases are not final, the question of retroactivity is not implicated in application of a newly announced controlling decision. Reed. See also, State v. Castillo, 486 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1986) (application of State v. Neil, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984) to pipeline cases not a retroactive application as reference to retroactivity in Neil meant to apply to completed cases).4

That is the reason that Ree v. State, 565 So.2d 1329 (Fla. 1990), does not authorize a departure sentence upon remand. Application of Pope to a "pipeline" case is "not retroactive" or, in the words of the decision in Ree, is a prospective application.

Generally, the "[d]ecisional law and rules in effect at the time an appeal is decided govern the case even if there has been a change since the time of trial." Lowe v. Price, 437 So.2d 142, 144 (Fla. 1983); Accord, Castillo; Morgan v. State, 392 So.2d 1315, 1316 (Fla. 1981). That general rule has been applied to "pipeline" cases. See, Castillo; Safford; Reed. In fact, the decision in Reed involves a situation almost identical to the one in this case. There, the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed a guidelines departure sentence based upon its earlier decision in Pope v. State, 542 So.2d 423 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989). After this court issued its decision in Pope II, reversing the Fifth District, Reed timely moved for rehearing. The Fifth District granted rehearing on the authority of this court's decision in Pope II, citing the general rule that Reed was entitled to the benefit of the law at the time of appellate disposition and rejecting the State's argument that such a ruling was an impermissible retroactive application of Pope II.

The same reasoning applies here. The application of <u>Pope II</u> to this case is simply a prospective application of the general and controlling law that cases are to be decided according to the law at the time of appeal. <u>Lowe</u>. Indeed, this court has applied <u>Pope II</u> in exactly that manner. <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 15 F.L.W. 612 (Fla. November 29, 1990); <u>Ferguson v. State</u>, 566 So.2d 255 (Fla. 1990). Accordingly, Fonseca requests that the cause be reversed

The state's contention that this court's pre-Pope decisions on the resentencing issue were confusing is incorrect; indeed, it is impossible to call them confusing because this court did not address the issue until <a href="Pope II">Pope II</a> was decided and has consistently (Cont'd)

and remanded with directions that he be resentenced within the quidelines.

(B)

There is authority which recognizes application of a new decision to a "pipeline" case as a retroactive application.

Griffith v. Kentucky, 479 U.S. 314, 107 S.Ct. 708, \_\_ L.Ed.2d \_\_ (1987). Such retroactive application is required, however, based upon principles of fairness and the constitutional guarantees of equal protection. Griffith v. Kentucky, 479 U.S. 314, 107 S.Ct. 708, L.Ed.2d (1987).

In <u>Griffith</u>, the United States Supreme Court characterized the application of a new constitutional rule of criminal procedure to a "pipeline" case as a retroactive application. The court, however, held that retroactive application was required by "basic norms of constitutional adjudication". <u>Id</u>., 107 S.Ct. at 713. The court first noted that its duty to adjudicate cases and controversies required that it apply its best understanding of the law to any case pending before it; otherwise, it would be acting not like a court but like a legislature.

Secondly, the court reasoned that "selective application of new rules violates the principle of treating similarly situated defendants the same." <u>Id</u>., 107 S.Ct. at 713. The court pointed out that

[i]t "hardly comports with the ideal of 'administration of justice with an even hand,'" when "one chance beneficiary -- the lucky individual whose case was chosen as the occasion for announcing the new principle --

applied the rule since then.

enjoys retroactive application, while others similarly situated have their claims adjudicated under the old doctrine."

Id. at 716 (citations omitted).

Mr. Pope benefited from the announcement of the rule that upon remand from a departure sentence with no written reasons, he must be resentenced within the guidelines. Moreover, appellate courts in this state, including this court, have applied Pope II to cases where sentence was imposed before the Pope II decision, but appeals were pending after the Pope II decision. Robinson; Ferguson; Smith v. State, 15 F.L.W. 1916 (Fla. 2d DCA August 8, To deny Mr. Fonseca the same benefit under identical 1990). circumstances is manifestly unfair and a denial of his state and federal constitutional rights to equal protection of the laws. U.S. Const. Art. IV, §1; Art I, §§ 2, 9, Fla. Const.; See, Myers v. Ylst, 897 F.2d 417, 421 (9th Cir 1990) ("[t]he equal protection clause prohibits a state from affording one person (other than the litigant whose case is the vehicle for the promulgation of a new rule) the retroactive benefit of a [court's] ruling on a state constitution's right to an impartial jury while denying it to another"). Cf. Mitchell v. State, 157 Fla. 121, 25 So.2d 73 (1946) (prosecution by method which denies defendant benefit of the statute of limitations while others guilty of same offense receive benefit of limitations period denies equal protection); South Florida Blood Service v. Rasmussen, 467 So.2d 798, 803 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) (court orders may constitute state action subject to constitutional limitations), approved 500 So.2d 533 (Fla. 1987). Accordingly, principles of equity and fairness, as

well as the constitutional guarantees of equal protection of the laws, require that this court reverse and remand with directions that Mr. Brown be resentenced within the guidelines.

(C)

Finally, the State contends that under this court's decisions in <u>State v. Vanhorn</u>, 561 So.2d 584 (Fla. 1990) and <u>Roberts v. State</u>, 547 So.2d 129, 131 (Fla. 1989), the trial court is entitled to a second opportunity to provide written departure reasons. Respondent disagrees.

The prosecutor moved to have Fonseca declared an habitual The trial court found Fonseca to be a offender. (T. 699). habitual offender (T. 702-03) and the prosecutor mistakenly informed the trial judge that, upon such a finding, the maximum habitual offender sentence (here life) must be imposed. (T. 702-State v. Brown, 530 So.2d 51 (Fla. 1988). The trial court then, after being made aware the guidelines range (R. 707-08), long recitation about the defendant's prior and after a convictions and bad acts, and reference to the facts of this case, imposed a life sentence. (T. 708-714). Only after the sentence had been imposed did the prosecutor, as an apparent afterthought, mistakenly say:

So it's clear, 775.084, the habitual offender statute takes the sentence out of the guidelines.

This is not considered a deviation or departure, simply a life sentence which is not controlled by the guidelines. (T. 715).

The sentencing hearing then immediately concluded. (T. 715). The trial judge never adopted or in any way approved the State's

incorrect position.

In Shull v. Dugger, 515 So.2d 748 (Fla. 1987), this court held that when departure sentences are declared invalid on appeal, resentencing must be within the guidelines range. This court did so in order to avoid (a) needlessly subjecting "the defendant to unwarranted efforts to justify the original sentence"; and (b) absured results. Id. at 750. Vanhorn and Roberts created a limited exception to that rule. As this court noted in Vanhorn, "a departure sentence is permissible on remand if the trial court erroneously believed it was imposing a sentence falling within the guidelines range while giving no reasons for what amounted to a de facto upward departure." Vanhorn, at Here, the trial judge did not "erroneously believe it was The trial imposing a sentence falling within the guidelines." court knew the guidelines range, imposed a sentence outside the quidelines, and failed to give written reasons, as required, for that departure. In Roberts, this court distinguished Shull v. Dugger, and Smith v. State, 536 So.2d 1021 (Fla. 1988), on exactly the same factual basis as exists here, that the trial judge knowingly departed from the quidelines range without proper justification. Roberts, at 130-31.

This case is simply no different from those in which trial judge's utilized a defendant's habitual offender status as a reason for departure, except that here no written order was entered. Those defendants won reversals for resentencing within the guidelines. Knowles v. State, 550 So.2d 1133 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989); McIntyre v. State, 539 So.2d 603 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989).

Roundtree v. State, 536 So.2d 1141 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). Mr. Fonseca is entitled to the same relief.

Even if Roberts and Vanhorn were deemed to apply here, they should apply as an exception to Shull v. Dugger only where the record clearly demonstrates that the trial judge mistakenly believed departure reasons were unnecessary. Here, the prosecutor's after the fact statement, neither approved nor in any way adopted by the judge, who had already imposed sentence, cannot be deemed to clearly demonstrate that fact. Accordingly, the Third District correctly remanded for resentencing within the guidelines.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING A POLICE OFFICER TO EXPRESS HIS OPINION ON THE TRUTH-FULNESS OR CREDIBILITY OF FONSECA'S STATE-MENTS, THEREBY INVADING THE JURY'S PROVINCE AND DENYING FONSECA A FAIR TRIAL.

The Third District Court of Appeal, without expressly addressing this issue, found it to be without merit. That ruling was incorrect because, though no Florida case has ever expressly addressed this issue, related precedent logically supports the argument.

It is improper, because it is an invasion of the jury's duty to judge the credibility of witnesses, for one witness to express an opinion on the truthfulness of another witness. Alvarado v. State, 521 So.2d 180 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); Boatwright v. State, 452 So.2d 666 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). That rule applies equally to the defendant when he testifies as a witness at trial. Maloy v. State, 41 So. 791, 792, 52 Fla. 101 (Fla. 1906) ("the credibility of the defendant as a witness in this case was a question for the jury to determine without the aid of the opinion of another witness"); Bowles v. State, 381 So.2d 326, 327 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980) (invasion of jury's province to judge credibility of witnesses to allow four (4) police officers to testify that they would not believe the defendant under oath). The error in allowing such

Once this court acquires jurisdiction of a cause, it has jurisdiction over the entire cause and may, in its discretion, rule upon issues which do not specifically provide a basis for jurisdiction. Savoie v. State, 422 So.2d 308, 310 (Fla. 1982); Bould v. Touchette, 349 So.2d 1181, 1183 (Fla. 1977). Respondent requests that this court exercise its discretion and review issues II, and III.

testimony is magnified when the witness offering the opinion is a police officer because they are "generally regarded by the jury as disinterested and objective and therefore highly credible".

Perez v. State, 371 So.2d 714, 717 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979). See also,

Bowles; Lamb v. State, 357 So.2d 437 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978); Brown v.

State, 344 So.2d 641 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977).

Here, Detective Alvarez testified to the content of Fonseca's first statement. (T. 302-05). Alvarez then testified that he suggested to Fonseca that his ex-wife may have committed suicide. (T. 305). When asked why he made that suggestion he said:

It is an investigative technique that we used to change the scenario, to see if this individual is being truthful. If I change the scenario, and he continues with the same story, it is indicative that the person is telling the truth.

But, if I change the scenario, and he changes his story, he changes it again, again and again, and every time I do that he keeps changing the story, it is indicative that he is hiding something and lying. (T. 305).

Defense counsel's objection to the testimony was overruled, the trial judge stating, "That was the officer's opinion, only". (T. 305).

Detective Alvarez then testified to the specifics of Fonseca's responses to Alvarez' changing of the scenario. (T. 306-16). Then, on cross-examination, when Alvarez was confronted with his lie about the gunshot residue test, he testified:

Well, when you pose it like that, no, I like to tell the truth to people. Every time I told him a different scenario, he changed and changed and changed, which was indicative of him hiding, having some sort of deception.

So, I created a scenario. For that I had to lie. Again, when I changed the scenario to contradict his previous statement, he would change his story. (T. 328).

In closing argument, the prosecutor capitalized on Detective Alvarez' testimony when, in discussing the credibility of Fonseca's statements, he told the jury:

It wasn't only, of course, that the defense kept repeating the statement or false account of what happened. Detective Alvarez told you that in his conversation with the defendant alone, there were four separate accounts of what happened. And the detective's experience that when a fact is changed and presented to a person who is being interviewed, oftentimes when the person is being deceitful, he will change the story to meet that set of facts.

That is exactly what the defendant did when Detective Alvarez, even to the point where the detective made up a fact that a gunshot residue had been found on his hand. The defendant changed his story to meet that fact. (T. 553).

Just as it is the jury's responsibility to judge the credibility of witnesses at trial, it is also the jury's duty to judge the credibility of, and decide what weight should be given to, a defendant's statement. Palmes v. State, 397 So.2d 648, 653 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 882, 102 S.Ct. 369, 70 L.Ed.2d 195 (1981). Therefore, it is also an improper invasion of the jury's province to allow a witness to express an opinion on the truthfulness or credibility of a defendant's statement. Cf., Maloy; Bowles. While Detective Alvarez could have testified to the fact that Fonseca changed his story, it was improper for him to offer the opinion that the changed story meant Fonseca was lying; it was the jury's province to draw whatever conclusions it might

from the fact that Fonseca changed his story. See, Hodge v. State, 26 Fla. 11, 7 So. 593, 595 (Fla. 1890) (testimony expressing conclusions regarding accused's intentions properly excluded; witness may testify to acts of accused, but it is for jury to draw conclusions from those acts). The error of allowing such an opinion is aggravated when the witness offering the opinion is, as here, a police officer, because jurors tend to view officers as neutral and objective, and, therefore, more credible. Bowles; Perez; Lamb; Brown.

Here, Detective Alvarez told the jury that when suspects respond to a change in scenario with a change in their story the suspect is lying and being deceitful. He then said that Fonseca responded to each change in scenario with a change in his story, clearing indicating his opinion that Fonseca was lying. The prosecutor used that opinion testimony in closing to convince the jury that Fonseca's statements, and therefore his defense, were not credible. That testimony impermissibly invaded the province of the jury to determine the credibility of Fonseca's statements and was prejudicial error in this case, a circumstantial evidence case in which the jury's judgment of the credibility of the defendant's statements was critical to their decision. Accordingly, the cause must be reversed for a new trial.

Indeed, the trial judge, in overruling the objection, noted: "That was the officer's opinion." (T. 305-06).

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING FONSECA'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL WHERE CUMULATIVE EVIDENCE OF COLLATERAL CRIMES BECAME THE PRIMARY FEATURE OF THE TRIAL SO THAT THE PREJUDICIAL IMPACT OF THE EVIDENCE OUTWEIGHED ITS PROBATIVE VALUE, DENYING FONSECA HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

The first six (6) paragraphs of the prosecutor's opening statement established the State's theory of the case and made Fonseca's prior crimes and bad acts the feature of the trial:

Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, Alicia's death certificate may read that she died on June 29th, 1988, but the evidence in this case will show that, in fact, she began to die when she met this man, because almost from that day that she met Rafael Fonseca, the

pattern of beatings and threats that he made to her preordained her death on June 29th, 1988.

You will hear about the times that yelling was heard behind a closed bedroom door; and when the door opened, the defendant was found on top of Alicia Vallea, choking her with one hand and holding a pistol to her head with the other hand.

You will hear about the time that arguing was heard between the two of them, Alicia being beaten by the defendant. The defendant was walking around the house with a machine gun strapped over his shoulder military-style, parading up and down, threatening to kill her.

You will hear that even some of the violence occurring in the presence of the police officers. That, even the presence of law enforcement officers didn't deter the defendant.

On August 17th, 1985, the police officers were called to Alicia's home in reference to a domestic dispute. When they got there, the defendant answered the door. He got into an argument with a police officers (sic); the police officers said that they weren't leaving until they could see Alicia.

Alicia came from behind a door from another room, battered and bruised and bleeding. When she tried to tell the officer what happened, right in front of the police officer, Rafael Fonseca, laughing now, punched the victim, Alicia, in the head three times right in the presence of the police officer. (T. 144-45).

Then, during trial, the State presented three (3) witnesses, Emiliana Vallea, Nilda Reyes, and Officer Marrero, whose sole purpose was to testify to prior crimes or bad acts of the defendant. Additionally, Emiliana Vallea's testimony went beyond those specific instances which the trial court had ruled, prior to trial, that she would be permitted to testify about. Specifically, she did not testify only to the prior instances of vio-

lence toward the victim which she had witnessed. She also, at the very beginning of her testimony, stated that, "When she met him, and when he began to live with her, he started to threaten her". (T. 393-94). Later, she testified that Fonseca went to jail for the attacks on Alicia. (T. 396).

Additionally, another State witness, Officer Garcia, made a particular point to testify, without being asked, that Fonseca "stated he had been arrested for battery on his wife, and this was an ongoing thing". (T. 443). Later, again without being asked, Officer Garcia noted that Fonseca "did tell me about him and his wife having previous arguments and being arrested previously for that". (T. 450). Defense counsel's motion for mistrial, based upon the snowballing effect of the evidence of prior bad acts, was denied, the trial judge finding that he evidence "has become less and less prejudicial, if it was ever prejudicial". (T. 460).

Finally, in closing argument the prosecutor continued to highlight the prior bad acts by telling the jury:

... He picked up his machine gun, and as he had done before, he threatened Alicia with this machine gun. This time he carried

<sup>8</sup> 

The trial court's "curative" instruction was not helpful. It indicated that the witness' answer "in the opinion of the defense attorney was an improper statement", implying that the judge thought otherwise. (T. 404). That implication was buttressed by the judge's failure to tell the jury to disregard the statement. See, Harris v. State, 427 So.2d 234 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) (judge's "cautionary" instruction did not cure error where he did not tell jurors that evidence was inadmissible and that they should disregard it). (T. 404-07). Additionally, the instruction repeatedly emphasized the fact that Fonseca had been arrested, one time indicating that the police "simply had to do what the law requires to be done under the circumstances". (T. 405).

## through on that threat.

Now, how do we know that?

Well, you heard the testimony from Emiliana Vallea and Nilda Reyes, the mother and sister of the deceased.

They testified to the prior acts of violence that were directed by the defendant towards Alicia, including the one where he carried a machine gun.

(Tr. 560-61).

The defense attorney mentioned the testimony of Emiliana Vallea and Nilda Reyes.

There is an old saying that the oftener a thing is done, the less likely that it is done by accident.

Now here, we have a situation where the defendant is claiming that either Alicia has shot herself, or she shot herself deliberately.

When we have, as we do here -- and it's not only from family members, but from a police officer -- evidence of prior violence, and prior beatings, and the prior use of a murder weapon, that evidence is admissible not to paint the defendant as a bad guy.

You can think of him whatever you want, bad or good, but to show that his explanation is unreasonable, it is not true, because the sole source of violence directed to Alicia Vallea throughout the last five years was by this person. That is why that evidence came in.

And yes, it is not contested by Ms. Johnston and I that almost every time Alicia would drop the charge. Emiliana testified to you about that.

Everybody has definitely stated that the history of this relationship is a punch in the face. The police are called. A charge is filed and then he comes begging, "Oh, we can't

do this," and they get back together again. (T. 623-33).

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